IN THE UNITED STATES AIR FORCE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS

In re





)
PETITION FOR EXTRAORDINARY 







)
RELIEF IN THE NATURE OF A







) 
WRIT OF MANDAMUS;  STAY OF 

Senior Airman (E-4)



)
ARTICLE 32 PROCEEDINGS

AHMAD I. AL HALABI


)



 



)




Petitioner

)
Misc. Dkt. No.  __-____

TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES AIR FORCE 

COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS


Pursuant to Rule 20 of this Honorable Court’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi, Petitioner, respectfully requests that this Honorable Court order the Article 32, UCMJ, pretrial investigation in the above-styled case be opened to the public except when necessary to protect classified information.  Petitioner further requests that this Honorable Court stay the pretrial investigation until such time as this Honorable Court issues a decision on this Petition for Extraordinary Relief.

Facts of the Case


On 27 August 2003, the following charges were preferred against Petitioner by his squadron commander:

	Chg
	UCMJ

Art
	Spec
	Summary of Offense

	I
	92
	
	

	
	
	1
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(e), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully taking photographs of camp facilities in and around Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. 

	
	
	2
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(b), page 1, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully communicating with detainees.


	
	
	3
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(b), page 1, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully not reporting unauthorized communications or attempted communications with detainees by other military members.

	
	
	4
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(f), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully e-mailing the names and corresponding Internment Serial Numbers (ISN) of detainees.

	
	
	5
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(h), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully transferring classified information to an unclassified computer.

	
	
	6
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(i), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully discussing classified matters with persons

without the appropriate clearance or the need to know.

	
	
	7
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit:  section 6(j), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, by wrongfully transporting classified information without the proper locking containers or covers.

	
	
	8
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit: section 6(k), page 2, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay,  by wrongfully taking classified materials to a housing unit.

	
	
	9
	Did, on divers occasions, at Travis AFB, California, between on or about 1 September 2002 and 15 November 2003, violate a lawful general regulation, to wit: paragraph 6.1.1, Air Force Instruction 33-129, Transmission of Information Via the Internet, dated 4 April 2001, by wrongfully attaching his personal laptop computer to a government-provided computer for other than official and authorized government business.

	
	
	10
	Did at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 20 December 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate a lawful general order, to wit:  section 6(b), page 1, General Order No. 2, dated 20 December 2002, issued by Major General Geoffrey D. Miller, Commander, Joint Task Force, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, by conducting unauthorized communications with detainees by furnishing and delivering unauthorized food, to wit: baklava pastries.


	II
	104
	
	

	
	
	1
	Did, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 15 November 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, without proper authority, knowingly communicate with the enemy by writing and transmitting secretly through unsecured e-mail to an unauthorized person or persons whom he, the accused knew to be the enemy, a communication in words and figures substantially as

follows, to wit: Internment Serial Numbers (ISN) and identifying information of detainees at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, which communication was intended to reach the enemy.

	
	
	2
	Did, on divers occasions, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 15 November 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, without proper authority, knowingly give intelligence to the enemy by posting through an unsecured internet system several e-mails to an unauthorized person or persons the names of several different detainees, their corresponding Internment Security Number

(ISN) and the detainees' country of origin and addresses.

	III
	106a
	
	

	
	
	1
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation, attempt to deliver two written notes from detainees held at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, writings relating to the national defense, which directly concerned intelligence gathering and planning for the United States' war against terrorists, to a citizen of a foreign government by carrying such notes en route to Syria, a foreign nation.

	
	
	2
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation, attempt to deliver over 180 electronic versions of written notes from detainees held at  Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, writings relating to the national defense, which directly concerned intelligence gathering and planning for the United States' war against terrorists, to a citizen of a foreign government by carrying such notes stored in his personal laptop computer en route to Syria.

	
	
	3
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation, deliver three e-mails containing classified information of detainees held at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, information relating to the national defense, which directly concerned

intelligence gathering and planning for the United States' war against terrorists, to a citizen of a foreign government by e-mailing such notes via an unsecured internet.

	IV
	107
	
	

	
	
	1
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I never downloaded any translated detainee documents to my personal laptop," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	2
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I did not delete the classified documents because I am not very familiar with using computers," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.


	
	
	3
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I do not have any internet websites," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	4
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I did not take any prohibited pictures of Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the

said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	5
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I never had any unauthorized contacts with any detainees at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	6
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I did not take any letters from detainees at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, to my residence," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	7
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I have never made any anti-American or Anti-United States statements," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	
	
	8
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to Air Force Office of Special Investigations (AFOSI) Special Agent Lance Wega, an official statement, to wit: "I do not know anything about Wahabism," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.


	V
	134
	
	

	
	
	1
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, violate 18 U.S.C. § 793, The Federal Espionage Act, by having unauthorized possession and willfully retaining over 180 documents from detainees held at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, which information Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation.

	
	
	2
	Did, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 15 November 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate 18 U.S.C. §793, The Federal Espionage Act, by attempting to attach his personal laptop computer to a SIPERNET computer to obtain a sketch, photograph, blueprint, plan, map, model, instrument, appliance, document, writing, or note of anything connected with the national defense, which information Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation.


	
	
	3
	Did, on divers occasions, within, the Continental United States, between on or about 26 January 2000 and on or about 15 November 2002, violate 18 U.S.C. § 1344, by knowingly executing a scheme to obtain credits owned by American Express, Bank of America, Capital One Bank, Providian Financial, US Bank, Household Bank, and Chase Manhattan Bank, by providing false information in credit card applications for credits from American Express, Bank of America, Capital One Bank, Providian Financial, US Bank, Household Bank, and Chase Manhattan Bank.



On 27 August 2003, the special court-martial convening authority (SPCMCA), Brig Gen Bradley S. Baker, the 60th Air Mobility Wing Commander at Travis AFB, California, appointed Col Anne Burman as the Article 32 Investigating Officer.  The Article 32 pretrial investigation was set to begin on 15 September 2003 at 0900.  On 9 September 2003, a conference was held between Trial Counsel, Defense Counsel, and the Investigating Officer.  Trial Counsel informed the Defense that the Government would ask the SPCMCA to order the Article 32 proceedings be closed to the public.  


On 12 September 2003, the following additional charges were preferred against Petitioner:  

	Chg
	UCMJ

Art
	Spec
	Summary of Offense

	A I
	92
	
	

	
	
	
	Did, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 15 November 2002 and on or about 29 July 2003, violate a lawful general regulation, to wit:  paragraph 2.7.4, Air Force Instruction 71-101, volume 4, Counterintelligence, dated 1 August 2000, by wrongfully failing to report to proper military authorities contact with the Embassy of the Syrian Arab Republic, a foreign diplomatic establishment.


	A II
	106a
	
	

	
	
	
	Did, at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 1 June 2003 and on or about 23 July 2003, with intent or reason to believe it would be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation, attempt to deliver documents, to wit:  (1) a copy of air-bridge mission information for military movement to and from Guantanamo Bay, (2) a copy of the Commander USSOUTHCOM Execution Order for Detainee Transfer for detainees held at Guantanamo Bay, (3) a copy of Operations Order 02-01(a) (Preparation for Detainee Leeward Transfer Operation) to JTF-GTMO Operation Enduring Freedom; (4) a copy of classified cell block information, to wit:  cell numbers, Internment Serial Numbers, and names of detainees held at Guantanamo Bay; (5) a copy of the Department of Defense, JTF-GTMO, JDOG, S-2, Initial Memorandum for Record, Command Inquiry, dated 20 October 2002; and (6) a copy of an existing or proposed military installation map at Guantanamo Bay, each of which directly concerned intelligence gathering and planning for the United States' war against terrorists, to a citizen of a foreign government by carrying such notes en route to Syria, a foreign nation, or Qatar, a foreign nation.

	A III
	107
	
	

	
	
	
	Did, at Jacksonville Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, Florida, on or about 23 July 2003, with intent to deceive, make to the United States Office of Personnel Management, an official statement, to wit: "I became a U.S. citizen on 11/14/01 in Sacramento, California (CA)," or words to that effect, which statement was totally false, and was then known by the said Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi to be so false.

	A IV
	134
	
	

	
	
	
	Did, at Camp Delta, Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, between on or about 15 November 2002 and on or about 23 July 2003, violate 18 U.S.C. §793, The Federal Espionage Act, by having unauthorized possession and willfully retaining secret documents, to wit:   (1) a copy of air-bridge mission information for military movement to and from Guantanamo Bay, (2) a copy of the Commander USSOUTHCOM Execution Order for Detainee Transfer for detainees held at Guantanamo Bay, (3) a copy of Operations Order 02-01(a) (Preparation for Detainee Leeward Transfer Operation) to JTF-GTMO Operation Enduring Freedom; (4) a copy of classified cell block information, to wit:  cell numbers, Internment Serial Numbers, and names of detainees held at Guantanamo Bay; (5) a copy of the Department of Defense, JTF-GTMO, JDOG, S-2, Initial Memorandum for Record, Command Inquiry, dated 20 October 2002; and (6) a copy of an existing or proposed military installation map at Guantanamo Bay, which information Senior Airman Ahmad I. Al Halabi had reason to believe could be used to the injury of the United States or to the advantage of Syria, a foreign nation, or Qatar, a foreign nation.



The maximum potential sentence, based on the above charges, includes death.


As of 12 September 2003, the Defense had received neither a written request that the investigation be closed nor any order by the SPCMCA closing the investigation.  Nevertheless, the Defense submitted a request to the SPCMCA that he not issue a blanket order closing the Article 32 investigation and that he permit the IO to close the investigation only when necessary to protect classified material as it is being offered in evidence.  At the outset of the investigation on 15 September 2003 at 0900 hours, the Investigating Officer notified the Defense for the first time that the SPCMCA had granted Trial Counsel’s request that the investigation be closed to the public.  The SPCMCA’s order closing the hearing is undated.  Appendix A.
Issue Presented

WHETHER A BLANKET EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC FROM AN ARTICLE 32, UCMJ, PRETRIAL INVESTIGATION IS PERMISSIBLE WITHOUT A SHOWING THAT THE CLOSURE CANNOT BE TAILORED TO REACH ONLY THOSE PORTIONS OF THE INVESTIGATION REVEALING CLASSIFIED INFORMATION. 

Specific Relief Requested


Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court quash the blanket order that the public be excluded from the Article 32 investigation in this case.  The public should only be excluded when it is necessary to protect classified information.  Petitioner further requests that this Honorable Court order a stay of the investigation until such time as this Honorable Court decides this issue.    
Jurisdictional Basis

“[M]ilitary appellate courts are among those empowered to issue extraordinary writs under the [All Writs] Act.” Clinton v. Goldsmith, 526 U.S. 529, 534 (1999) (citing Noyd v. Bond, 395 U.S. 683, 695, n.7, 89 S.Ct. 1876, 23 L.Ed.2d 631 (1969)).   As the highest tribunal in the Air Force courts-martial system, this Honorable Court has judicial authority “over the actions of trial judges in cases that may potentially reach the appellate court.”  San Antonio Express-News v. Morrow, 44 M.J. 706, 708 (A.F. Ct. Crim App 1996), citing United States v. Dettinger, 6 M.J. 505, 511 (A.F.C.M.R. 1978).  This Court has held that Article 32 pretrial investigations into murder charges have that potential.  San Antonio News-Express, 44 M.J. at 709.  The Defense respectfully submits that if a pretrial investigation into charges of murder have the potential of reaching this Honorable Court, then charges of espionage and aiding the enemy are just as likely to reach this court.  This Honorable Court, therefore, “has a responsibility to ensure that the Air Force system of justice functions fairly, not just in the eyes of all the parties, but also in the eyes of the American public we serve.”  Id.
Law and Argument



There is a strong preference for ensuring Article 32 pretrial investigations are open to the public to the greatest extent possible.  Rule for Courts-Martial 405(h)(3) states that “[a]ccess by spectators to all or part of the proceeding may be restricted or foreclosed in the discretion of the commander who directed the investigation or the investigating officer.”  However, the Discussion to that paragraph reads:  “Ordinarily the proceedings of a pretrial investigation should be open to spectators.”  Although one could interpret R.C.M. 405(h)(3) as not expressing a preference for or against open proceedings, this Honorable Court rejected that interpretation, finding the rule “obviously favors open hearings,” and such a preference is found in the “plain meaning” of the rule.  San Antonio Express-News, 44 M.J. at 710.  The year after San Antonio Express-News was decided, the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces (CAAF) went further, explicitly holding that “absent ‘cause shown that outweighs the value of openness,’ the military accused is likewise entitled to a public Article 32 investigative hearing.”  ABC, Inc. v. Jarvis, 47 M.J. 363, 365 (C.A.A.F. 1997), citing Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California, Riverside County, 464 U.S. 501, 509 (1984).  In ABC, Inc., CAAF ordered the Article 32 in United States v. McKinney opened, holding that “the scope of closure must be tailored to achieve the stated purposes and should also be ‘reasoned,’ not ‘reflexive.’”  ABC, Inc., 47 M.J. at 365.  The Court extended the rationale of United States v. Grunden, 2 M.J. 116 (C.M.A. 1977), a case involving espionage in which the trial itself was closed, to the Article 32 investigation in McKinney:  wholesale closure of proceedings is generally inappropriate since tailored limitations to public access are usually available.  The Grunden court reversed the conviction for espionage, admonishing the convening authority that “in excising the public from the trial, the [convening authority] employed an ax in place of the constitutionally required scalpel.”  Grunden, 2 M.J. at 120.



The Secretary of the Air Force has likewise stated a  preference for open proceedings in  AFI 51-201, Administration of Military Justice, 2 Nov 99, para. 4.1.2:

Article 32 investigations should ordinarily be open to the public.  Because the public has an interest in attending Article 32 investigations, all efforts to keep the investigation open to the public should be explored before closing the investigation.  …  Make every effort to close only those portions of the investigation that are clearly justified and keep the remaining portions of the investigation open. 



AFLSA/JAJM’s Article 32 Investigating Officer’s Guide, para. 6.2.2, echoes this preference:  “Article 32 investigations should ordinarily be open to the public and news media.”  Appendix B.



A closed Article 32 investigation in this case will be counterproductive and will harm the public’s perception of the military justice system.  As Justice Brennan has explained about the dangers of closed hearings: 

Secrecy of judicial action can only breed ignorance and distrust of courts and suspicion concerning the competence and impartiality of judges; free and robust reporting, criticism, and debate can contribute to public understanding of the rule of law and to comprehension of the functioning of the entire criminal justice system, as well as improve the quality of that system by subjecting it to the cleansing effects of exposure and public accountability.  

Nebraska Press Ass’n v. Stuart, 427 U.S. 539, 587 (1976).



The espionage conviction in United States v. Grunden was overturned on appeal because the court was closed to the public.  Like SrA Al Halabi’s case, Grunden also involved classified evidence.  The Grunden court recognized that classified material may justify partial exclusion of the public when such exclusion is narrowly and carefully drawn.  Grunden, 2 M.J. at 121.  The court held that the blanket exclusion of spectators from all or most of a trial had not been approved by the court, and “the simple utilization of the terms ‘security’ or ‘military necessity’ cannot be the talisman in whose presence the protections of the Sixth Amendment and its guarantee to a public trial vanish.”  Id.  



Numerous trials and Article 32 investigations containing classified information have been open to the public and the press with protections being taken to prevent the disclosure of the classified information.  For example, the highly publicized joint pre-trial investigation for United States v. Schmidt and United States v. Umbach (together known as the “Tarnak Farms Friendly Fire” case), held in January 2003 was open to the public except for portions of the investigation involving classified information.  The trial of United States v. Lonetree, a highly publicized espionage court-martial, was also open to the public, except when classified information was being offered.  Even the trial of Al Qaeda members involved in the 1998 bombing of United States Embassies in East Africa was held open to the public except when necessary to protect classified information.  United States v. Bin Laden, 92 F. Supp. 2d 225, 227-28 (S.D.N.Y. 2000).



One of the hallmarks of the fairness of the military justice system is the fact Article 32 investigations are open to the public, unlike grand jury investigations which are held in secret.  Any decision to completely exclude the public from these proceedings should be based on concrete reasons for doing so.  Trial Counsel have identified only a handful of classified documents (less than 10) that are relevant to this case.  The descriptions of the documents are not classified (such descriptions, in fact, appear on the charge sheet).  The actual classified information in the documents has only marginal relevance to the Article 32 investigation, which indicates that only a minor portion of the investigation will involve actual presentation or discussion of classified information.  Significantly, Trial Counsel have stated they do not intend to elicit any classified information from witnesses during the Article 32 investigation, nor will they be offering any classified documents.  Appendix C.  

Petitioner has a compelling interest in having the Article 32 investigation open to the public to the greatest extent possible.  A process that very well could send him to his death should be subjected to the scrutiny and accountability inherent in a public forum.  A stay should also be immediately granted to afford this Honorable Court an opportunity to decide this issue prior to a pretrial investigation sans public access being conducted to the detriment of Petitioner.  


WHEREFORE, this Court should grant the Petition for Extraordinary Relief in the nature of a Writ of Mandamus ordering the pretrial investigation be held open to the public except to the extent classified information is divulged, and this Court should order the United States to stay the pretrial investigation until such time as this Honorable Court decides this issue.








KIM E. LONDON, Major, USAF

Circuit Defense Counsel, Western Circuit

Air Force Legal Services Agency

United States Air Force








(707) 424-4580








JAMES E. KEY III, Major, USAF








Circuit Defense Counsel, Western Circuit








Air Force Legal Services Agency








United States Air Force

(707) 424-3136

ANDREW S. WILLIAMS, Major, USAF

Appellate Defense Counsel

Air Force Legal Services Agency

United States Air Force

(202) 767-1562

1

